No. 47152-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**Sarah Olivas,**

Appellant.

---

Mason County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-00318-8

The Honorable Judge Toni Sheldon

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund  
Manek R. Mistry  
Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY**  
P.O. Box 6490  
Olympia, WA 98507  
(360) 339-4870  
backlundmistry@gmail.com

**

## **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Ms. Olivas's guilty plea violated her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
2. The record does not affirmatively establish that Ms. Olivas entered a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary guilty plea.
3. The trial court erred by accepting Ms. Olivas's guilty plea without ensuring that she understood the law, the facts, and the relationship between the two.
4. The record of the plea hearing does not prove Ms. Olivas understood the state's non-statutory obligation to prove the absence of self-defense in order to obtain a conviction for first-degree murder.

**ISSUE 1:** The record of a plea hearing must affirmatively establish the defendant's understanding of the law, the facts, and the relationship between the two. Must Ms. Olivas be allowed to withdraw her guilty plea to murder, because the record does not affirmatively establish that she understood the state was required to disprove her self-defense claim?

5. The court lacked an adequate factual basis for Ms. Olivas's guilty plea.
6. The record of the plea hearing does not include facts disproving self-defense.

**ISSUE 2:** A guilty plea is invalid if the record of the plea hearing fails to set forth a sufficient factual basis for the charge. Must the murder charge be dismissed with prejudice because the record does not include evidence showing that Ms. Olivas's use of force was unlawful?

7. The court erred by ordering Ms. Olivas to pay \$2,387 in legal financial obligations absent any inquiry into her present ability to pay.
8. The court erred by entering finding of fact 2.5. CP 6.

**ISSUE 3:** A court may not order a person with significant mental health problems to pay legal financial obligations (LFOs) without conducting an individualized inquiry into her means to do so. Did the court err by ordering Ms. Olivas to pay \$2,387 in LFOs without analyzing whether she had the money

to pay given her lack of income and resources, the lengthy period of incarceration imposed, and her significant mental health problems?

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Sarah Olivas had mental health issues, including post-traumatic stress disorder. At some point, she discontinued use of anti-psychotic medication. RP 40, 44.

Ms. Olivas did some work for Patrick Frender at his house. She stayed there some nights. RP 44.

Ms. Olivas felt increasingly uncomfortable in the house. She thought that Frender and his family participated in cult-like practices and sexually assaulted her. RP 44.

On July 2, 2014, Ms. Olivas felt afraid for her life. She believed that Frender would harm her. RP 44. After a struggle, she went into another room, got Frender's shotgun, and shot him. Affidavit of Probable Cause, Supp. CP; RP 44. Frender's son and a friend were in the living room and saw the shooting. Affidavit of Probable Cause, Supp. CP.

Ms. Olivas ran to the house next door and remained there until police came. Affidavit of Probable Cause, Supp. CP. When they did arrive, she told them "I know I did it. I'm sorry. I did it. I'm sorry." RP 6.

She was charged with murder in the first degree, with a firearm enhancement. Information, Supp. CP. The court found that she was "in need of psychiatric examination" to determine competency. Order for

Initial Evaluation, Supp. CP. The court directed that Western State Hospital conduct an evaluation. Order for Initial Evaluation, Supp. CP.

After she was found competent to proceed, Ms. Olivas entered into a plea agreement with the prosecution. The state agreed to drop the firearm enhancement in exchange for the plea. RP 19. The state also agreed not to charge unlawful possession of a firearm. RP 20.

On January 5, 2015, Ms. Olivas's attorney submitted a "Statement of Defendant of Plea of Guilty". CP 20-24. The written plea form lists the elements of first-degree murder as "intentionally causing the death of another with premeditated intent." CP 20. It also includes Ms. Olivas's statement outlining the crime: "I premeditated and intentionally shot and killed Patrick Frender." CP 24.

Ms. Olivas told the judge that she understood the elements. RP 19. Neither the written plea form nor the transcript of her colloquy with the judge mentions the state's burden to disprove self-defense. CP 20-24; RP 18-25.

The judge accepted the plea and entered a finding of guilt. RP 25-27. The court sentenced Ms. Olivas to 361 months. CP 7. The judge did not ask her about her financial resources, her income, or her ability to pay legal financial obligations. RP 46-56. Nor did the court inquire into her mental health problems. RP 46-56. The court found that she had the



present or likely future ability to pay LFOs. CP 6. It imposed financial penalties totaling \$2,387. CP 9.

Ms. Olivas timely appealed. CP 4.

### **ARGUMENT**

**I. MS. OLIVAS’S GUILTY PLEA VIOLATED DUE PROCESS, BECAUSE THE RECORD OF THE PLEA HEARING DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY ESTABLISH ITS VALIDITY.**

Where there is “some” evidence of self-defense, the state bears the burden of disproving self-defense. *State v. McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. 444, 462, 284 P.3d 793 (2012). Sarah Olivas said she was afraid for her life on the day she shot Frender. He had tied her up in the house that day. On another occasion, she’d gone to the hospital after he raped her.

This amounted to “some” evidence of self-defense. *Id.* Accordingly, had the case gone to trial, the state would have had the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*

Due process requires an affirmative showing that an accused person’s guilty plea is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 23 L.Ed.2d 274, 89 S.Ct. 1709 (1969); *In re Isadore*, 151 Wn.2d 294, 88 P.3d 390 (2004). The record here does not include such a showing. Accordingly, Ms. Olivas must be allowed to withdraw her plea.

- A. The record of the plea hearing does not affirmatively show that Ms. Olivas understood the law, the facts, and the relationship between the two.

The record of a plea hearing must prove that the accused person understood the law, the facts, and the relationship between the two. *State v. R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. 699, 706, 133 P.3d 505 (2006). Here, Ms. Olivas lacked an understanding of the elements of first-degree murder in a self-defense case.

Her written statement on plea of guilty makes no mention of the absence of self-defense as an element of murder. CP 20-24. On the first page, the document purports to list the elements as “[i]ntentionally causing the death of another with premeditated intent...” CP 20. It does not list the absence of self-defense as an element.

Similarly, her statement outlining the offense “in [her] own words” makes no mention of self-defense. CP 24. It says only “I premeditated and intentionally shot and killed Patrick Frender.” CP 24.

Nor did the court point out that the absence of self-defense is an element of first-degree murder when there is some evidence of self-defense. RP 18-25. The court made no mention of self-defense or justifiable force in its colloquy with Ms. Olivas. RP 18-25.

Nothing in the record affirmatively shows that Ms. Olivas understood the state’s burden to prove the absence of self-defense. The

record does not establish that she understood the law, the facts, and the relationship between the two. Ms. Olivas's guilty plea was involuntary and violated her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 706. Her case must be remanded to the trial court with instructions to allow her to withdraw her plea. *Id.*

B. The record does not set forth a sufficient factual basis for Ms. Olivas's guilty plea.

The factual basis for a guilty plea must be developed on the record at the time the plea is taken. *Id.*, at 706 n. 8; *State v. S.M.*, 100 Wn. App. 401, 415, 996 P.2d 1111 (2000). The factual basis for a plea is insufficient if it fails to satisfy all the elements of the offense. *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 706.

Here, the record does not provide a factual basis for first-degree murder because it does not establish the absence of self-defense. Neither Ms. Olivas's written statement nor her oral colloquy with the judge shows that she was not acting in self-defense.

She did not "orally acknowledge[]" any factual statement by the prosecutor establishing the absence of self-defense. *See S.M.* 100 Wn. App. at 414 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The judge did not "orally interrogate[ ] the defendant concerning [her] conduct" to establish the absence of self-defense. *Id.*

Failure to develop sufficient facts on the record at the time of a guilty plea requires vacation of the conviction and dismissal of the charge. *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 706. The court in this case failed to develop sufficient facts on the record to show the absence of self-defense. Because of this, the conviction for murder must be vacated and the charge set aside. *Id.*

**II. THE COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE ORDERED MS. OLIVAS TO PAY \$2,387 IN LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS.**

Ms. Olivas was found indigent at the end of trial. CP 2-3. She has no income from any source. Motion and Declaration for an Order to Proceed Informa [sic] Pauperis, Supp. CP. She will spend between 20 and 30 years in prison. CP 7. She has PTSD and other mental health conditions. RP 40, 44. Even though Ms. Olivas has no hope of ever paying any amount, the court imposed fines, costs, and fees totaling \$2,387. CP 9.

A. Ms. Olivas's mental health condition prohibits imposition of financial penalties because the sentencing court did not find that she has the *current* means to pay.

The legislature has imposed obligations upon a trial court before it can order a person with a mental health condition to pay LFOs:

Before imposing any legal financial obligations upon a defendant who suffers from a mental health condition, other than restitution or the victim penalty assessment under RCW 7.68.035, a judge

must first determine that the defendant, under the terms of this section, has the means to pay such additional sums.

RCW 9.94A.777(1).<sup>1</sup>

This language stands in contrast to that of other statutes permitting the imposition of LFOs upon anyone who has the present ability to pay *or* will be able to pay *in the future*. See e.g. RCW 10.01.160(3). In cases involving offender with mental health conditions, the court must find that s/he has the ability to pay at the time of sentencing. RCW 9.94A.777(1).

Under the statute, a judge “must first determine” that the offender has the ability to pay. This imposes a more concrete duty than RCW 10.01.160(3), which only requires the court to *consider* whether the person can pay. RCW 9.94A.777(1).

Here, the court knew that Ms. Olivas suffered from significant mental health conditions. RP 40, 44; Order for Initial Evaluation, Supp. CP. Despite this, the court did not explicitly find that she has the current ability to pay LFOs. Instead, without inquiry, the sentencing judge adopted boilerplate language finding hat she “has the ability or likely future ability to pay...” CP 6.

---

<sup>1</sup> For purposes of the statute, “mental health condition” is defined as: “a mental disorder that prevents the defendant from participating in gainful employment, as evidenced by a determination of mental disability as the basis for the defendant's enrollment in a public assistance program, a record of involuntary hospitalization, or by competent expert evaluation.” RCW 9.94A.777(2).

This finding is inadequate to support imposition of LFOs. The court's order exceeded its authority under RCW 9.94A.777. The order imposing financial penalties must be vacated and the case remanded for a new sentencing hearing.

B. The court failed to make any particularized inquiry into Ms. Olivas's present or future ability to pay LFOs.

The court did not conduct any particularized inquiry into Ms. Olivas's financial situation at sentencing or at any other time. Instead, the court adopted boilerplate language indicating that it "ha[d] considered" her present and future ability to pay, including her resources and the likelihood that her status will change. CP 6. The court also adopted a boilerplate finding that she "has the ability or likely future ability to pay." CP 6.

Nothing in the record supports this finding. Nor is there anything in the record suggesting the court actually considered the factors indicated. The court erred by ordering Ms. Olivas to pay LFOs absent any evidence that she will ever have the means to do so.

The legislature has mandated that "[t]he court *shall not* order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them." RCW 10.01.160(3); *State v. Blazina*, --- Wn.2d ---, 344 P.3d 680, 685 (March 12, 2015) (emphasis added by court).

This imperative language prohibits a trial court from ordering LFOs absent an individualized inquiry into the person's ability to pay. *Id.* Boilerplate language in the Judgment and Sentence is inadequate because it does not demonstrate that the court engaged in an individualized analysis. *Id.* Furthermore, the court must consider personal factors such as incarceration and the person's other debts, including restitution. *Id.*

Here, the court failed to conduct any inquiry into Ms. Olivas's ability to pay LFOs. RP 46-56. The court did not consider her financial status in any way. Indeed, the court also found Ms. Olivas indigent shortly after imposing \$2,387 in LFOs. CP 2-3.

Had the court considered the factors mandated by the Supreme Court in *Blazina*, Ms. Olivas's mental health condition, her lack of income, and her 20-30 year incarceration would have weighed heavily against a finding that she had the ability to pay LFOs. In fact, the *Blazina* court suggested that an indigent person would likely never be able to pay LFOs. *Id.* (“[I]f someone does meet the GR 34 standard for indigency, courts should seriously question that person's ability to pay LFOs”).

C. The Court of Appeals should review the erroneous imposition of financial penalties and vacate that portion of the judgment and sentence.

RAP 2.5(a) permits an appellate court to review errors even when they are not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a); *Blazina*, --- Wn.2d ---,

344 P.3d at 683. The *Blazina* court found that “National and local cries for reform of broken LFO systems demand that this court exercise its RAP 2.5(a) discretion and reach the merits of this case.” *Id.*<sup>2</sup> This court should follow the Supreme Court’s lead and consider the merits of Ms. Olivas’s LFO claim even though it was not raised below.

The court erred by ordering Ms. Olivas to pay \$2,387 in LFOs absent any showing that she had the means to do so. *Blazina*, --- Wn.2d ---, 344 P.3d at 685. Furthermore, the imposition of LFOs is inappropriate, given Ms. Olivas’s significant mental health condition. RCW 9.94A.777.

The order must be vacated and the case remanded for a new sentencing hearing. *Id.*

### **CONCLUSION**

Ms. Olivas’s guilty plea violated her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. She did not make her plea knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. The case must be remanded to allow her withdraw her plea, because the record of the plea hearing does not affirmatively demonstrate that she understood the law, the facts, and the relationship between the two.

---

<sup>2</sup> The Supreme Court noted the significant disparities both nationally and in Washington in the administration of LFOs and the significant barriers they place to reentry of society. *Id.* at 683-85.