## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

### SARAH OLIVAS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County The Honorable Toni. A. Sheldon, Judge

No. 14-1-00318-8

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY
Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584

PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

##

## B. FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the purposes of the issues raised in this appeal, the State accepts Salters' statement of facts. RAP 10.3(b).

On July 17, 2014, deputies with the Mason County Sheriff's Office responded to a report of a shooting that occurred at a house in Allyn, Washington. CP 42. When deputies arrived at the house, they found the homeowner, Patrick Frender, dead from an apparent gunshot wound to the head. *Id.* 

Witnesses identified the defendant, Sarah Olivas, as the shooter.

Id. The witnesses told the deputies that Olivas was on the porch smoking a cigarette when they heard her say she was going to kill them all. Id.

They said she then entered the house, went to a back bedroom and got a shotgun, and then came back and shot the victim in the head, killing him dead. Id. A deputy took Olivas into custody, at which point she said: "I know I did it. I'm sorry, I did it. I'm sorry." RP 6.

The State charged Olivas with premeditated first-degree murder with a firearm enhancement. CP 38-39. In exchange for the State's agreement to drop the firearm enhancement, to not file a withheld charge of unlawful possession of a firearm, and to recommend a standard range sentence, Olivas pled guilty to premeditated first-degree murder. RP 18-

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

27; CP 18-19, 20-24. The guilty plea hearing occurred on January 5, 2015. RP 18.

When accepting the plea, the trial court engaged in a colloquy with Olivas about her guilty plea, and the court stated the charge and then specifically asked Olivas whether she needed any additional time to speak with her attorney and whether she understood what the charge was about, to which Olivas answered, "I do your Honor." RP 19. The trial court then asked Olivas, "Have you gone over the elements of the crime so you know what it is the State would have to prove at a trial?" RP 19. Olivas answered, "I do, your Honor." RP 19.

In her statement of defendant on plea of guilty, Olivas stated: "On July 17, 2014, in Mason County, Washington, I premeditated and intentionally shot and killed Patrick Frender." CP 24; RP 23. The trial court judge read this statement aloud and asked Olivas whether it was true, to which Olivas answered:

It is, your Honor. I guess I-I was -I was informed that I — by raising the gun is premeditation. So I guess -I guess so. I — it wasn't something that I planned, it wasn't something that I had thought about. It wasn't something that I had set out to do. There was some other circumstances that were going on in the home and — but yes, yes. Yes, your Honor.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

RP 23-24. The trial court then inquired, "So it was a moment in time, however short, that you thought about it, is that correct?" Olivas answered, "That's correct, your Honor." RP 24.

To verify the factual basis for the guilty plea, the court considered Olivas's statement and also considered the declaration of probable cause filed in the case. RP 25; CP 40-43. The trial court stated on the record that it did find a factual basis to support the plea, and the court then accepted the plea and found Olivas guilty of premeditated murder in the first degree. RP 25; CP 18-19. The court scheduled sentencing to occur eleven days later, on January 16. RP 26.

At the January 16 sentencing hearing, Olivas's attorney informed the court that Olivas had "been diagnosed in the past with... post traumatic stress disorder due to a history of sexual abuse." RP 28, 40.

Asking for leniency in sentencing, Olivas's trial counsel then addressed the court, in part, as follows:

... But I know that from Ms. Olivas's perspective, that PTSD starts to simmer. And she's staying in that house. And we can watch—we can watch it in the statements of Mr. Frender's friends and family and neighbors. As she stays there, she gets worse, and worse, and worse, until finally this happens. And she is driven to the point where she makes the decision to end Mr. Frender's life.

That doesn't justify what she did. It's not a diminished capacity defense because she knew what she was doing when she

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

made that choice. But there is certainly a great deal of mental health issues running around in this case.

RP 40.

Olivas then spoke for herself, and stated, in part, as follows:

... I was on my Dilantin. I wasn't on my anti-psychotic. Something wasn't right though. Something was not right. ...

But he [the victim] – he mentioned something to me about this Insane Clown Posse gang that practices involved in drugging their victims, raping them with foreign objects. This happened to me. On July 2<sup>nd</sup> I had – I had a friend take me to Harrison Hospital for a blood transfusion. I was bleeding internally, which I believe is public record. To be honest, I didn't know why I went back, except that all my belongings were there.

On this day he tied me up again. I was in fear for my life. I was able to escape. There was chaos in the house and I remembered where the shotgun had been stashed. The shooting occurred. ...

RP 44. In response, the prosecutor informed the court, in part, as follows:

... Ms. Olivas, quite frankly, has oscillated from the moment this happened between some semblance of – of an expression of – call it remorse if you will.... To indicating that she didn't have anything to do with this, and that the police needed to be looking for someone else, to accusing [the witnesses or victim survivors] of having committed the crime, to alleging that she committed this crime because she was somehow held captive and suffered some series of sexual assaults.

RP 45.

The trial court judge imposed a standard range sentence 361 months at the top end of the range and ordered Olivas to pay standard

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

legal financial obligation that included a filing fee of \$200.00, sheriff's return of service fees of \$866.50, crime victim's assessment of \$500.00, a \$100.00 DNA fee, and court appointed counsel reimbursement of \$600.00. RP 46-47; CP 7, 9. The judgment and sentence includes an additional fee of \$100.00 designated as a crime lab fee. CP 9. The total of LFOs imposed is \$2,386.50. CP 9. The court ordered Olivas to make payments at the rate of \$25.00 per month with the first payment due within 60 days of her release from confinement. RP 47; CP 10. The court did not engage in any inquiry into Olivas's ability to pay, and there was no discussion by any party about her ability to pay. RP 46-47. Nor did any party object to the costs imposed or the lack of an inquiry into Olivas's ability to pay. *Id.* 

#### C. ARGUMENT

1. The absence of self-defense is not an element of the offense of premeditated murder in the first degree; instead, the State is only required to disprove the defense of self-defense if there is competent evidence of self-defense. Therefore, when accepting the defendant's plea of guilty the court was not required to address the hypothetical defense of self-defense where there was no evidence of self-defense at the time that the court accepted the plea.

"Due process requires that a guilty plea may be accepted only upon a showing the accused understands the nature of the charge and enters the plea intelligently and voluntarily." *State v. Robinson*, 172 Wn.2d 783,

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

790, 263 P.3d 1233, 1236 (2011), citing State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91, 117, 225 P.3d 956 (2010) (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Mendoza Montoya, 109 Wn.2d 270, 277, 744 P.2d 340 (1987); Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242–43, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969)).

To support her arguments on this point, Olivas makes a series of factual assertions without citation to the record. Br. of Appellant at 5. Without citation to the record, Olivas states that "Sarah Olivas said she was afraid for her life on the day she shot Frender." *Id.* Perhaps Olivas is referring to page 44 of the verbatim report, where Olivas gave a statement at sentencing eleven days after the trial court had already accepted her guilty plea. In this statement, Olivas refers to things she alleged to have occurred on July 2 (a date which was 15 days before she murdered Patrick Frender), and she then states: "On this day he tied me up again. I was in fear for my life. I was able to escape." RP 44.

Thus, it is unclear whether Olivas is referring to July 2 or whether she is referring to July 17, which is the day she murdered Patrick Frender. What is clear, however, is that if her statement is believed it is clear that she had escaped and that it was afterward that she decided to kill Patrick Frender, and while she alleges that she was in fear for her life prior to her

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

alleged escape, the alleged facts do not indicate that she was in fear for her life after her escape or when she committed the killing. *Id*.

Contrary to Olivas's assertions, "the absence of justification is not a true 'element' of murder...." *State v. Jordan*, 158 Wn. App. 297, 301, 241 P.3d 464 (2010) *aff'd*, 180 Wn.2d 456, 325 P.3d 181 (2014) (citation omitted). "References to the absence of self-defense as an element serve as shorthand for the principle that the State bears the burden to disprove the defense once it is properly raised." *Id.* The State contends that Olivas has not properly raised a self-defense claim merely because, in a statement made 11 days after she pled guilty and her plea was accepted by the court, she alleged that at some time prior the murder she had been in fear for her life.

In *In re Personal Restraint of Montoya*, 109 Wn.2d 270, 744 P.2d 340 (1987), our Supreme Court rejected the argument that the court must inform a defendant of the State's burden to disprove self-defense where there was no evidence to support a self-defense claim in that case. *Id.* at 279-80. The court stated, "[t]he trial court certainly had no obligation to inform Montoya of the burden of proof on a purely hypothetical claim." *Id.* at 280. The *Montoya* Court never held that the trial court must inform the defendant of this burden if there is evidence to support the claim.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

Similarly, in *State v. Haydel*, 122 Wn. App. 365, 95 P.3d 760 (2004), the court held that the State had no obligation to inform the defendant of its burden of proof on self-defense where he presented no evidence of self-defense. *Id.* at 371. Again, the court did not hold that the opposite is true where there is evidence of self-defense.

At the time when the instant court took Olivas's guilty plea, there was no evidence in the record to support a self-defense claim. On this point, the instant case is factually to *State v. Haydel*, wherein the court declared that "[n]o case holds that either the plea form or colloquy must cover self-defense when there is no evidence of self-defense." *Id.* at 369. The *Haydel* court held that because the defendant presented no evidence of self-defense when the trial court took the plea, the State was not required to inform the defendant of the State's burden of proof on the "purely hypothetical claim" of self-defense. *Id.* at 763.

The State contends that the reasoning and holding of the *Haydel* court should apply in the instant case. Olivas did not raise a self-defense claim or present evidence of self-defense before the trial court took her plea. RP 18-27. The statement that Olivas now contends was an assertion of self-defense was not uttered until 11 days after the trial court had accepted her plea. RP 28, 44. Still more, Olivas's tardy utterance was no

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

more than an explanation of her motive for killing Patrick Frender. RP 44. Her statement was that she had feared him in the past, but she had escaped. *Id.* Sometime afterward – regardless whether it was 15 days later or whether it was later on the same day – she then went to a back bedroom, got a gun, and then returned to find the victim and kill him. CP 42. These facts do not support a claim of self-defense.

2. While a trial court's finding of a factual basis for a plea is useful for determining that a defendant's guilty plea is knowing, voluntarily, and intelligently made as constitutionally required under the due process clause, such a finding is not in itself constitutionally required. Instead, the fining of a factual basis for the plea is a court-rule based procedural requirement under CrR 4.2(d); therefore, an allegation of error premised upon this procedural requirement may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Because Olivas did not object in the trial court, this Court should decline review of this issue.

Olivas did not challenge the factual basis for her plea or enter an objection on this point in the trial court.

The requirement that a trial judge determine whether there is a factual basis for a plea is found in CrR 4.2(d):

The court shall not accept a plea of guilty without first determining that it is made voluntarily, competently, and with an understanding of the nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea. The court shall not enter a judgment upon a plea of guilty unless it is satisfied that there is a factual basis for the plea.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

But "strict adherence to the rule is not a constitutionally mandated procedure." *In re Pers. Restraint of Hilyard*, 39 Wn. App. 723, 727, 695 P.2d 596 (1985) (internal quotation marks omitted) (citation omitted). "The duty imposed by court rule that the judge must be satisfied of the plea's factual basis should not be confused with the constitutional requirement that the accused have an understanding of the nature of the charge." *Id.* at 727.

Thus, an alleged violation of CrR 4.2(d) is not by itself an issue of constitutional magnitude that may be raised for the first time on appeal. *See State v. Zumwalt*, 79 Wn. App. 124, 129, 901 P.2d 319 (1995) (challenge to factual basis of plea appealable only because raised in the trial court). Rather, it "is constitutionally significant only insofar as it relates to the defendant's understanding of his or her plea." *Matter of Hews*, 108 Wn.2d 579, 592, 741 P.2d 983, 990 (1987). As discussed above, there is no basis in the record for Olivas's claim that she did not understand her plea, and she fails to otherwise demonstrate that the lack of facts in her plea statement is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right that she may raise for the first time on appeal.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

3. The trial court erred when it ordered Olivas to pay discretionary LFOs without first conducting an on-the-record, individualized inquiry into her ability to pay, as required by *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015) and RCW 10.01.160(3). But Olivas did not preserve this review of this issue by entering an objection in the trial court; therefore, the State contends that this Court should decline review. However, if this Court nevertheless invokes its discretion under RAP 2.5(a) to review this issue, then the State asks that the case be remanded to the trial court for the trial court to resentence Salters after engaging in the required inquiry.

It appears from the record that at sentencing the trial court imposed discretionary legal financial obligations against Olivas without first conducting an on-the-record, individualized inquiry into her ability to pay. RP 283-84. Such an inquiry, however, is statutorily required by RCW 10.01.160(3), and mere reference to boilerplate language in the judgment and sentence is inadequate to substitute for the required individualized inquiry. *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015).

#### Additionally:

Before imposing any legal financial obligations upon a defendant who suffers from a mental health condition, other than restitution or the victim penalty assessment under RCW 7.68.035, a judge must first determine that the defendant, under the terms of this section, has the means to pay such additional sums.

RCW 9.94A.777(1). Olivas contends that "[s]he has PTSD and other mental health conditions" and that she "has no hope of ever paying any amount" of the LFOs imposed by the trial court. Br. of Appellant at 8.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

But Olivas's citations to the record to support her contention that she has a disabling mental condition are merely citations to her own arguments to the trial court. To be relieved from the obligation to pay court-imposed LFOs a defendant must have...

been diagnosed with a mental disorder that prevents the defendant from participating in gainful employment, as evidenced by a determination of mental disability as the basis for the defendant's enrollment in a public assistance program, a record of involuntary hospitalization, or by competent expert evaluation.

RCW 9.94A.777(2). Olivas's citations to the record do not support an assertion that she has a mental health condition as defined by RCW 9.94A.777, and Olivas provides no explanation for why she did not make this assertion at the appropriate time in the trial court.

However, the State concedes that under *State v. Blazina*, 182
Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), the trial court erred by failing to conduct the required inquiry into Olivas's ability pay discretionary LFOs. *Id.*However, Olivas did not object to the court's imposition of LFOs, and "[a] defendant who makes no objection to the imposition of discretionary LFOs at sentencing is not automatically entitled to review." *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 832, 344 P.3d 680 (2015) (footnote omitted).
Nevertheless, although it is not required to do so, under RAP 2.5 this

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

Court may accept review of this issue even though Olivas failed to preserve the issue with an objection in the trial court. *Blazina* at 834-35.

If this Court accepts review on this issue, the State contends that because the trial court did not engage in an on-the-record, individualized inquiry into Olivas's ability to pay LFOs, the proper remedy is to remand to the trial court for resentencing, where the trial court may then undergo the required inquiry. *Id.* at 685.

#### D. CONCLUSION

The absence of self-defense is not an element of the crime of premeditated murder in the first degree. Instead, the State is required to disprove the defense of self-defense only if there is evidence of self-defense. At the time that Olivas's plea of guilty to the charge of premeditated murder in the first degree was accepted by the trial court, there was no evidence before the trial court to suggest that the hypothetical defense of self-defense was a viable defense to the charge. The statements that Olivas made at the time of sentencing, which she now contends are evidence of self-defense, were not made until 11 days after the court had accepted her plea of guilty — and, in any event, Olivas's statements were an explanation of her motive rather than statements establishing the

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

defense of self-defense. Therefore, the trial court did not err by not engaging Olivas in a colloquy about self-defense before accepting her plea of guilty.

Constitutional due process requires that a defendant's plea be voluntary, knowing and intelligent, and the trial court's finding of a factual basis for a plea can be useful for establishing that a plea is knowing, voluntary and intelligent, but there is no separate constitutional requirement that the trial court make the factual finding. Instead, the requirement for a factual finding by the trial court is a court-rule based requirement created by CrR 4.2(d). Because the requirement is rule-based rather than constitutional, it may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Because Olivas did not raise an objection in the trial court, this Court should decline review of this issue.

Finally, the trial court did not engage in the statutorily required colloquy into Olivas's ability pay discretionary legal financial obligations before imposing them. However, Olivas did not preserve review of this error by entering an objection in the trial court. Therefore, this Court should decline review of this issue. If, however, this Court exercises its discretion and authority to accept review, then this case should be

State's Response Brief Case No. 47152-3-II

remanded for the trial court to engage in the proper colloquy into Olivas's ability to pay before discretionary costs are imposed.